www.sciencemag.org/content/352/6289/1094/suppl/DC1



Supplementary Materials for

Bloch state tomography using Wilson lines

Tracy Li, Lucia Duca, Martin Reitter, Fabian Grusdt, Eugene Demler, Manuel Endres, Monika Schleier-Smith, Immanuel Bloch, Ulrich Schneider*

*Corresponding author. Email: uws20@cam.ac.uk

Published 27 May 2016, *Science* **352**, 1094 (2016) DOI: 10.1126/science.aad5812

This PDF file includes:

Supplementary Text Figs. S1 to S7 References (47–52)

Supplementary Text

In these supplements, we provide theoretical background on our measurement of Wilson lines in a honeycomb lattice and additional experimental details. In SI.1, we derive the equation of motion for a single particle in a lattice in the presence of a constant force, relate it to the Wilson line, and apply our results to the honeycomb lattice. We then describe our numerical calculations of the Wilson line in SI.2. In SI.3, we relate the Wilson line to the cell-periodic Bloch functions of the lattice and the position operator. We then check the validity of assuming completeness of the bands in the experiment in SI.4. Next, we discuss general gauge freedom in quantum mechanics and its application to our measurements in SI.5. We then present a decomposition of the U(2)Wilson line into a U(1) part and an SU(2) part in SI.6. We conclude the theoretical section of the supplements by describing the reconstruction procedure for the SU(2) eigenvalues of the Wilson line in SI.7. Experimental methods, including data analysis techniques, are given in SII.

Contents

SI	Theo	oretical background	2
	SI .1	Dynamics in the combined lattice and gradient potential	2
		i. The limit of infinite force	3
		ii. Dynamics in the tight-binding honeycomb lattice	3
		iii. Elements of the Wilczek-Zee connection for $\Delta = 0$	4
	SI.2	Numerical calculation of Wilson lines	5
	SI.3	Wilson lines as projectors	5
	SI.4	Validity of the two-band tight-binding approximation	6
	SI.5	Gauge Freedom in Wilson lines	6
		i. The pseudospin representation and the Wilson line elements	7
	SI.6	Decomposition of the Wilson line into $U(1)$ and $SU(2)$	8
	SI. 7	Reconstruction of SU(2) Wilson-Zak loops	9
SII	Expe	erimental methods	11
	SII.1	The optical potential of the honeycomb lattice	11
		i. Breaking AB-site degeneracy	11
		ii. Implementation of the honevcomb lattice	13
	SII.2	Preparation scheme	13
	SII.3	Lattice acceleration	13
	SII.4	Detection	13
		i Data Analysis	14
	SIL5	Fitting the interference fringe	15
	SII.6	Accessing the dispersion relation	15

SI Theoretical background

SI.1 Dynamics in the combined lattice and gradient potential

Here, we derive the equations of motion for a particle in a lattice in the presence of a constant force **F**. The Hamiltonian of the lattice can be written as

$$\hat{H} = \sum_{\mathbf{q},n} E_{\mathbf{q}}^{n} |\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{n}\rangle \langle \Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{n}|, \qquad (S.1)$$

where $E_{\mathbf{q}}^{n}$ is the energy of the *n*th band at quasimomentum \mathbf{q} and $|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{n}\rangle$ are the Bloch states. The Bloch states can be expressed as $|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{n}\rangle = e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}}}|u_{\mathbf{q}}^{n}\rangle$, where $|u_{\mathbf{q}}^{n}\rangle$ are the cell-periodic Bloch functions and $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$ is the position operator.

Adding a constant force F to the system results in the Schroedinger equation:

$$i\partial_t |\psi(t)\rangle = (\hat{H} - \mathbf{F} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{r}})|\psi(t)\rangle,$$
 (S.2)

where we have taken $\hbar = 1$. We assume the initial state is localized in reciprocal space at quasimomentum q_0 such that

$$|\psi(0)\rangle = \sum_{n} \alpha^{n}(0) |\Phi_{\mathbf{q}_{0}}^{n}\rangle$$
(S.3)

where $|\alpha^n(0)|^2$ gives the population in the *n*th band at time t = 0. Making the ansatz

$$|\psi(t)\rangle = \sum_{n} \alpha^{n}(t) |\Phi_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{n}\rangle$$
(S.4)

$$\mathbf{q}(t) = \mathbf{q}_0 + \mathbf{F}t \tag{S.5}$$

leads to the following equations of motion for a two-band system:

$$i\partial_t \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^1(t) \\ \alpha^2(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} E^1_{\mathbf{q}(t)} - \xi^{1,1}_{\mathbf{q}(t)} & -\xi^{1,2}_{\mathbf{q}(t)} \\ -\xi^{2,1}_{\mathbf{q}(t)} & E^2_{\mathbf{q}(t)} - \xi^{2,2}_{\mathbf{q}(t)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^1(t) \\ \alpha^2(t) \end{pmatrix}$$
(S.6)

where

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{n,n'} &= \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{n,n'} \cdot \mathbf{F} \\ &= i \langle u_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^n | \partial_t | u_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{n'} \rangle. \end{aligned} \tag{S.7}$$

and

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{n,n'} = i \langle u_{\mathbf{q}}^n | \nabla_{\mathbf{q}} | u_{\mathbf{q}}^{n'} \rangle |_{\mathbf{q}=\mathbf{q}(t)}.$$
(S.8)

The quantity $\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{n,n'}$ defines an intra-band (n = n') and an inter-band $(n \neq n')$ Berry connection. From Eq. S.6, we see that the inter-band Berry connection drives transitions between the different bands.

i. The limit of infinite force

In the limit of an infinite force, the energy terms on the diagonal are negligible compared to the geometric terms $\xi_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{n,n'}$. In this case, Eq. S.6 reduces to

$$i\partial_t \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^1(t) \\ \alpha^2(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\xi_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{1,1} & -\xi_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{1,2} \\ -\xi_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{2,1} & -\xi_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{2,2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^1(t) \\ \alpha^2(t) \end{pmatrix}$$
(S.9)

Defining $\hat{\xi}_{\mathbf{q}(t)}$ as the matrix with elements $\xi_{\mathbf{q}(t)}^{n,n'}$, the evolution is given by

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi(t)\rangle &= \mathcal{T} \exp[i \int dt \hat{\xi}_{\mathbf{q}(t)}] |\psi(0)\rangle \\ &\equiv \hat{\mathbf{W}} |\psi(0)\rangle \end{aligned} \tag{S.10}$$

Using Eq. S.5 to change the variable of integration from time to quasimomentum space recovers Eq. 2 of the main text:

$$\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{q}(0)\to\mathbf{q}(t)} = \mathcal{P}\exp[i\int_{\mathcal{C}} d\mathbf{q}\hat{\mathbf{A}}_{\mathbf{q}}],\tag{S.11}$$

where the path-ordered (\mathcal{P}) integral runs over the path \mathcal{C} in reciprocal space from $\mathbf{q}(0)$ to $\mathbf{q}(t)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{A}}_{\mathbf{q}}$ is the Wilczek-Zee matrix with elements defined in Eq. S.8. Therefore, the evolution of the system is described by an operator $\hat{\mathbf{W}}$, which is the Wilson line (11). Path-ordering (\mathcal{P}) is necessary because the matrices generally do not commute for all quasimomenta along the path.

ii. Dynamics in the tight-binding honeycomb lattice



Figure S1: The honeycomb lattice in real space and reciprocal space. A, The real-space honeycomb lattice comprises triangular sublattices A (solid circles) and B (open circles) with nearestneighbour hopping vectors d_i. B, Pseudospin $S(q) = (\sin \theta_q \cos \phi_q, \sin \theta_q \sin \phi_q, \cos \theta_q)$ for a lattice with AB-site degeneracy in a basis formed by the cell-periodic Bloch states at reference quasimomentum $Q = \Gamma$, as labelled. The components S_x and S_y are indicated by white arrows, with the length of the arrow representing the magnitude of the $S_{x(y)}$ component; S_z is illustrated by the color map, with red (blue) indicating $S_z > 0$ ($S_z < 0$).

We now apply the results from the previous section to the specific case of the tight-binding model of the honeycomb lattice. The honeycomb lattice may be decomposed into two triangular sublattices composed of A and B sites and coupled via nearest-neighbour lattice vectors $\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{i}}$ with hopping amplitude J (see Fig. S1A). We begin by defining the states $|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{A}\rangle$ and $|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{B}\rangle$ of the A and B sites via states $|w_{\mathbf{r}_{A(B)}}\rangle$ localized on the A (B) sites as

$$|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{A}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{\mathbf{r}_{A}} e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{A}} |w_{\mathbf{r}_{A}}\rangle = e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}}} |u_{\mathbf{q}}^{A}\rangle \tag{S.12}$$

$$|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{B}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{\mathbf{r}_{B}} e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{B}} |w_{\mathbf{r}_{B}}\rangle = e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}}} |u_{\mathbf{q}}^{B}\rangle, \qquad (S.13)$$

where N denotes the number of lattice sites. In the tight-binding limit, where the localized states $|w_{\mathbf{r}_{A(B)}}\rangle$ are eigenstates of the position operator, the cell-periodic Bloch functions $|u_{\mathbf{q}}^{A(B)}\rangle$ are independent of quasimomentum and can be physically understood as superpositions of the localized wavefunctions $|w_{\mathbf{r}_{A(B)}}\rangle$ on all A (B) sites.

In the basis of $|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^A\rangle$ and $|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^B\rangle$, the Hamiltonian describing the two lowest bands of the honeycomb lattice is (47)

$$\hat{H}_{tb}(\mathbf{q}) = \begin{pmatrix} \Delta/2 & t_{\mathbf{q}} \\ t_{\mathbf{q}}^* & -\Delta/2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (S.14)$$

where Δ is an energy offset between the sublattices and

$$t_{\mathbf{q}} = |t_{\mathbf{q}}| e^{i\vartheta_{\mathbf{q}}}$$

= $-J(e^{-i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{d}_{1}} + e^{-i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{d}_{2}} + e^{-i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{d}_{3}}).$ (S.15)

When the A and B sites are degenerate at $\Delta = 0$, this Hamiltonian is diagonalized by the eigenstates

$$|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{1}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{A}\rangle - e^{i\vartheta_{\mathbf{q}}}|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{B}\rangle)$$
(S.16)

$$|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{2}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{A}\rangle + e^{i\vartheta_{\mathbf{q}}}|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{B}\rangle).$$
(S.17)

The corresponding eigenenergies are

$$E_{\mathbf{q}}^{1} = -|t_{\mathbf{q}}|$$

$$E_{\mathbf{q}}^{2} = |t_{\mathbf{q}}|.$$
(S.18)

iii. Elements of the Wilczek-Zee connection for $\Delta = 0$

To calculate the connections in the Wilczek-Zee matrix, we note that

$$u_{\mathbf{q}}^{1}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|u_{\mathbf{q}}^{A}\rangle - e^{i\vartheta_{\mathbf{q}}}|u_{\mathbf{q}}^{B}\rangle) = e^{-i\mathbf{q}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}}}|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{1}\rangle$$
(S.19)

$$|u_{\mathbf{q}}^{2}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|u_{\mathbf{q}}^{A}\rangle + e^{i\vartheta_{\mathbf{q}}}|u_{\mathbf{q}}^{B}\rangle) = e^{-i\mathbf{q}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}}}|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^{2}\rangle.$$
(S.20)

The intra-band (Berry) connections are then

$$\mathbf{A}_{q}^{1,1} = \mathbf{A}_{q}^{2,2} = -\frac{1}{2} \nabla_{\mathbf{q}} \vartheta_{\mathbf{q}}, \tag{S.21}$$

and the inter-band connections are

$$\mathbf{A}_{q}^{1,2} = \mathbf{A}_{q}^{2,1} = \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{\mathbf{q}} \vartheta_{\mathbf{q}}.$$
 (S.22)

SI.2 Numerical calculation of Wilson lines

Using the equations of motion derived in Eq. S.6, solving for the Wilson line transporting from quasimomentum q(t = 0) to quasimomentum q(t = T) yields

$$\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{q}(0)\to\mathbf{q}(T)} = e^{-i\int_0^T \tilde{H}(t)dt},\tag{S.23}$$

where $\tilde{H}(t)$ is the matrix on the right-hand side of Eq. S.6.

To numerically calculate the Wilson line, we compute the Trotter product of n time-independent matrices evaluated at discrete time-steps of size $\Delta t = T/n$:

$$\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{q}(0)\to\mathbf{q}(T)} = e^{-i\int_0^T \tilde{H}(t)dt}$$

$$\approx \prod_{j=1}^n e^{-i\tilde{H}(t_j)\Delta t}.$$
(S.24)

In our calculations, we use several hundred time-steps, depending on the length of the path.

In the tight-binding model, we have analytical expressions for the eigenenergies (Eq. S.18) and the Berry connections (Eqs. S.21 and S.22); it is therefore straight-forward to calculate $\tilde{H}(t)$ for any time t. In the *ab-initio* calculation, obtaining the Berry connections requires a particular gaugechoice to ensure that the cell-periodic Bloch functions are numerically differentiable. Similar to the approach in Ref. (48), we choose our gauge such that the Bloch functions of the s-bands are entirely real on a lattice site and the Bloch functions of the p-bands are entirely imaginary midway between neighboring lattice sites. This gauge-choice allows us to numerically differentiate the cell-periodic Bloch functions along the q_x direction, which is sufficient for our experiments.

SI.3 Wilson lines as projectors

To derive the relation between the Wilson line and the cell-periodic Bloch functions, we discretize the Wilson line in Eq. S.11 by dividing the path from $\mathbf{q}(0)$ to $\mathbf{q}(t)$ into N infinitesimal segments $\mathbf{q}_1, \mathbf{q}_2...\mathbf{q}_N$. The Wilson line can then be expressed as a sequence of path-ordered products of projectors $\mathscr{P}(\mathbf{q}) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} |u_{\mathbf{q}}^n\rangle \langle u_{\mathbf{q}}^n|$ (7) with elements

$$W_{\mathbf{q}_{1}\to\mathbf{q}_{N}}^{mn} = \langle u_{\mathbf{q}_{N}}^{n} | \prod_{i=1}^{N} \mathscr{P}(\mathbf{q}_{i}) | u_{\mathbf{q}_{1}}^{m} \rangle, \qquad (S.25)$$

where \mathcal{N} is the number of bands. In the experiment, $\mathcal{N} = 2$.

When the states $|u_{\mathbf{q}}^n\rangle$ form a complete basis over the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , the projectors are trivial, i.e. $\mathscr{P}(\mathbf{q}) = \sum_{n=1}^{\mathcal{N}} |u_{\mathbf{q}}^n\rangle \langle u_{\mathbf{q}}^n| = \mathbb{1}$. In this case, the Wilson line elements reduce to the overlap of the cell-periodic Bloch functions:

$$W_{\mathbf{q}_1 \to \mathbf{q}_N}^{mn} = \langle u_{\mathbf{q}_N}^n | u_{\mathbf{q}_1}^m \rangle.$$
(S.26)

Therefore, the Wilson line provides a way of comparing the cell-periodic Bloch states $|u_{\mathbf{q}}^n\rangle$ at any two points in momentum space. In terms of the Bloch states $|\Phi_{\mathbf{q}}^n\rangle = e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}}}|u_{\mathbf{q}}^n\rangle$, the Wilson line elements can equivalently be expressed as

$$W_{\mathbf{q}_{1}\to\mathbf{q}_{N}}^{mn} = \langle \Phi_{\mathbf{q}_{N}}^{n} | e^{i\mathbf{q}_{N}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}}} e^{-i\mathbf{q}_{1}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}}} | \Phi_{\mathbf{q}_{1}}^{m} \rangle$$
$$= \langle \Phi_{\mathbf{q}_{N}}^{n} | e^{i\Delta\mathbf{q}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}}} | \Phi_{\mathbf{q}_{1}}^{m} \rangle$$
(S.27)

where $\Delta \mathbf{q} = \mathbf{q}_N - \mathbf{q}_1$ is the change in quasimomentum. Therefore, expressed in terms of the real-space position operator $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$, the Wilson line transporting a state from an initial quasimomentum \mathbf{q}_i to final quasimomentum \mathbf{q}_f by $\Delta \mathbf{q}$ is

$$\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{q}_i \to \mathbf{q}_f} = e^{i\Delta \mathbf{q} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{r}}}.$$
(S.28)

SI.4 Validity of the two-band tight-binding approximation

In this section, we ascertain the validity of applying Eq. S.26 to our system, which only holds when the two-lowest band eigenstates span the same Hilbert space at all quasimomenta. To this end, we use the numerically-calculated band eigenstates of the full optical lattice potential to calculate the elements of the Wilczek-Zee connection $\mathbf{A}_q^{n,n'}$ for n, n' = 1, 2. We compare the corresponding Wilson lines at various lattice depths to the Wilson line obtained from a tight-binding calculation. We plot the population in the first band, $|W_{\Gamma \to \mathbf{q}}^{11}|^2$ at different lattice depths for a path from Γ

We plot the population in the first band, $|W_{\Gamma \to q}^{11}|^2$ at different lattice depths for a path from Γ to $\Gamma + 3\mathbf{G}$ in Fig. S2. While strong deviations occur for shallow lattices, only minor differences are visible at the lattice depth of $5.2E_r$ used in the experiment. Therefore, the experiment should, in principle, be well-described by the tight-binding formalism.

However, in Fig. 3 of the main text, the population in the lowest band returns to only 90% and not unity at Γ + 3G. This is a result of transfer into higher bands. Due to the presence of higher bands, we can not exactly realize the two-band Wilson lines plotted in Fig. S2, which would require reaching the infinite gradient limit for the two lowest bands while remaining adiabatic with respect to higher bands. Experimentally, the choice of gradient strength is a compromise between realizing dynamics that are fast compared to the energy scale of the lowest two bands and minimizing excitations into higher bands. We could, in principle, realize the two-band Wilson line regime more precisely by increasing the lattice depth, which decreases the combined width ε of the lowest two bands and increases the energy scale between the lowest two bands and higher bands. However, in the current work, the lattice depth was limited by the bandmapping technique. As the lattice depth is increased, it becomes more difficult for the bandmapping process to remain adiabatic with respect to ε .

SI.5 Gauge Freedom in Wilson lines

Due to its linear structure, quantum mechanics contains an inherent gauge freedom: if $|\psi\rangle$ is an eigenstate of an operator, then so is $e^{i\phi}|\psi\rangle$, $\phi \in \mathbb{R}$. Consequently, even non-degenerate eigenstates are defined uniquely only up to such a phase factor. If the Hamiltonian depends on a parameter **R** as $\hat{H}(\mathbf{R})$, then the corresponding phase $\phi(\mathbf{R})$ can be chosen independently for every value of **R**. This is called a local U(1) gauge freedom, in reminiscence of the situation in quantum electrodynamics or gauge theories (49).



Figure S2: Validity of the two-band tight-binding approximation. Lowest band population, $|W_{\Gamma \to q}^{11}|^2$ for a two-band Wilson line using a full band structure calculation for lattice depths $5.2E_r$, $3E_r$, $2E_r$, and $1E_r$ (decreasing lightness of blue). The Wilson line at $5.2E_r$ is nearly identical to the Wilson line obtained from a tight-binding calculation (orange).

Due to this gauge freedom, the Berry phase for adiabatic evolution in a non-degenerate band is only well-defined for closed loops, since, for non-closed paths, the phase factor in front of the final state depends on the choice of basis, i.e., the gauge choice, at the final point. In the situation of two, everywhere non-degenerate eigenstates $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$, the gauge group enlarges to $U(1) \times U(1)$, since the phase of each eigenstate can be chosen independently. However, if the two eigenstates are degenerate with eigenenergy E, then any normalized superposition $|\Psi\rangle = \alpha |1\rangle + \beta |2\rangle$ is also an eigenstate with the same eigenvalue:

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{H}|\Psi\rangle &= \hat{H}\left(\alpha|1\rangle + \beta|2\rangle\right) \\ &= \alpha \hat{H}|1\rangle + \beta \hat{H}|2\rangle \\ &= E|\Psi\rangle \end{aligned} \tag{S.29}$$

The freedom in choosing the basis states is therefore now enlarged. For each normalized superposition state $|\Psi\rangle$, there exists a corresponding orthogonal superposition state $|\Psi_{\perp}\rangle$ such that $|\Psi\rangle$ and $|\Psi_{\perp}\rangle$ form an orthonormal basis. Consequently, the gauge freedom is U(2).

The Hamiltonian is, however, not the only observable. If there exists another observable that is conserved by all $\hat{H}(\mathbf{R})$ and can distinguish between the states $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$, such as spin or parity, then this observable defines a new, more constrained basis. Assuming the basis states to be eigenstates of both the Hamiltonian and the observable, the gauge freedom is reduced again to $U(1) \times U(1)$, even for degenerate eigenenergies. This is precisely the case in the strong-force limit of the experiment: even though the bands appear degenerate during the evolution, i.e., the difference in eigenenergies is negligible during the dynamics, the bandmapping procedure can nonetheless distinguish between the two bands. In such a basis, the absolute values of the Wilson line elements are well-defined and can be observed even for open lines.

i. The pseudospin representation and the Wilson line elements

We now explicitly discuss the gauge-invariance of the terms $\theta_{\mathbf{q}}$ and $\phi_{\mathbf{q}}$ used in the pseudospin representation of the cell-periodic Bloch state. The components of the pseudospin referenced to $\mathbf{Q} = \Gamma$ is plotted in Fig. S1B for a lattice with AB-site degeneracy.

The polar angle θ_q is obtained from the quantity

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \langle u_{\mathbf{q}}^{1} | 1 \rangle \right| &= \left| \cos \frac{\theta_{\mathbf{q}}}{2} \right| \\ \Rightarrow \theta_{\mathbf{q}} &= 2 \operatorname{arccos} \left| \langle u_{\mathbf{q}}^{1} | 1 \rangle \right| \\ &= 2 \operatorname{arccos} \left| W_{\mathbf{Q} \to \mathbf{q}}^{11} \right| \end{aligned} \tag{S.30}$$

where we have used Eq. S.26 to relate the overlap of the cell-periodic Bloch functions to the Wilson line elements in the last line. The $U(1) \times U(1)$ gauge-freedom on the phase of $|u_{\mathbf{q}}^1\rangle$ or the reference states $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$ does not affect the absolute value of the overlap. Hence, $|W_{\mathbf{Q}\to\mathbf{q}}^{11}|$ and, consequently, $\theta_{\mathbf{q}}$ is a gauge-invariant quantity.

The relative phase $\phi_{\mathbf{q}}$ can be expressed as

$$\phi_{\mathbf{q}} = \operatorname{Arg}[\langle u_{\mathbf{q}}^{1}|1\rangle] - \operatorname{Arg}[\langle u_{\mathbf{q}}^{1}|2\rangle]$$

= $\operatorname{Arg}[W_{\mathbf{Q}\to\mathbf{q}}^{11}] - \operatorname{Arg}[W_{\mathbf{Q}\to\mathbf{q}}^{12}]$ (S.31)

That is, we access the relative phase between the basis states by obtaining the difference of phases between the Wilson line elements. While the gauge-freedom of $|u_{\mathbf{q}}^1\rangle$ is cancelled out by taking the difference of the argument of Wilson line elements, the gauge-freedom on the reference states remains. A different choice of the phase for $|1\rangle$ and $|2\rangle$ changes the value of $\phi_{\mathbf{q}}$. However, to obtain a gauge-invariant quantity, we can compare $\phi_{\mathbf{q}}$ and $\phi_{\mathbf{q}'}$ at quasimomenta \mathbf{q} and \mathbf{q}' . Taking the difference between the relative phases at the two quasimomenta cancels out the gauge-freedom of the reference states if the same reference states are used to define the cell-periodic Bloch function at both quasimomenta. Explicitly, the gauge-invariant quantity measured in the experiment is

$$\phi_{\mathbf{q}} - \phi_{\mathbf{q}'},\tag{S.32}$$

SI.6 Decomposition of the Wilson line into U(1) and SU(2)

Here, we decompose the U(2) Wilson line into an SU(2) matrix multiplied by a global U(1) phase. We furthermore relate the U(1) phase to the sum of the Berry phase of the first and second band, noting, however, that the U(1) part might not show up in certain bases (50), and that our experiment measures only the SU(2) part of the Wilson line.

We begin by writing the Wilczek-Zee connection matrix A_q in a general form as

$$\hat{\mathbf{A}}_{\mathbf{q}} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{q}}^{1,1} & \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{q}}^{1,2} \\ \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{q}}^{2,1} & \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{q}}^{2,2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(S.33)

To simplify notation, we henceforth suppress the q subscript and note that all elements are still to be understood as being q-dependent. Next, we decompose the matrix as

$$\hat{\mathbf{A}} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\mathbf{A}^{1,1} + \mathbf{A}^{2,2}}{2} & \mathbf{0} \\ 0 & \frac{\mathbf{A}^{1,1} + \mathbf{A}^{2,2}}{2} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\mathbf{A}^{1,1} - \mathbf{A}^{2,2}}{2} & \mathbf{A}^{1,2} \\ \mathbf{A}^{2,1} & -\frac{\mathbf{A}^{1,1} - \mathbf{A}^{2,2}}{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$:= \hat{\mathbf{A}}_{U(1)} + \hat{\mathbf{A}}_{SU(2)}$$
(S.34)

Noting that $\hat{\mathbf{A}}_{U(1)}$ is proportional to the identity matrix and therefore commutes with $\hat{\mathbf{A}}_{SU(2)}$ and with itself for all quasimomenta, the Wilson line $\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{Q}\to\mathbf{q}}$ transporting a state from initial quasimomentum \mathbf{Q} to final quasimomentum \mathbf{q} can be expressed as:

$$\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{Q}\to\mathbf{q}} = \mathcal{P}e^{i\int_{\mathcal{C}}d\mathbf{q}\hat{\mathbf{A}}}
= \mathcal{P}e^{i\int_{\mathcal{C}}d\mathbf{q}\hat{\mathbf{A}}_{U(1)}+\hat{\mathbf{A}}_{SU(2)}}
= e^{i\int_{\mathcal{C}}d\mathbf{q}\hat{\mathbf{A}}_{U(1)}}\mathcal{P}e^{i\int_{\mathcal{C}}d\mathbf{q}\hat{\mathbf{A}}_{SU(2)}}$$
(S.35)

where C denotes the path taken from Q to q. This gives the decomposition of the U(2) Wilson line into a U(1) global phase multiplied by a path-ordered SU(2) matrix. Furthermore, the global U(1) phase is given by

$$\int_{C} d\mathbf{q} \frac{\mathbf{A}^{1,1} + \mathbf{A}^{2,2}}{2} = \frac{\phi_1 + \phi_2}{2}$$
(S.36)

where ϕ_1 is the adiabatic phase acquired in the first band and ϕ_2 is the adiabatic phase acquired in the second band. For closed loops, ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are the Berry phases, which can be used to formulate the Chern number of the system (2). For paths closed only by a reciprocal lattice vector, ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are instead the Zak phases (51).

SI.7 Reconstruction of SU(2) Wilson-Zak loops

Generically, an SU(2) matrix can be expressed as

$$\begin{pmatrix} W^{11} & W^{12} \\ -W^{12*} & W^{11*} \end{pmatrix}$$
(S.37)

where $|W^{11}|^2 + |W^{12}|^2 = 1$. The eigenvalues $e^{\pm i\xi}$ of this matrix depend on the absolute values of the Wilson line terms and the phase of W^{11} and are given by

$$\operatorname{Re}[W^{11}] \pm i\sqrt{|W^{12}|^2 + \operatorname{Im}[W^{11}]^2}$$
(S.38)

The absolute values are directly measured via the population remaining in the first band after transport of the lowest band eigenstate. Although the interferometric sequence reveals only the difference between the phases of elements W^{11} and W^{12} , we can extract the phase of W^{11} by invoking unitarity and the "backtracking" condition of Wilson lines. It can be shown that, for generic quasimomenta q and Q, $\hat{W}_{Q\to q} = \hat{W}^{\dagger}_{q\to Q}$ (52). Consequently, $\hat{W}_{q\to Q}\hat{W}_{Q\to q} = 1$, such that going forward and back along the same path results in no transformation of the state vector.

In the case of the Wilson-Zak loops in the experiment, the relevant relation is

$$\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\Gamma \to \Gamma + \mathbf{G}} = \hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\Gamma \to \Gamma - \mathbf{G}}^{\dagger}$$
(S.39)

where we have used that $\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\Gamma \to \Gamma - \mathbf{G}} = \hat{\mathbf{W}}_{\Gamma + \mathbf{G} \to \Gamma}$ which, assuming a periodic gauge choice, follows from the periodicity of the BZ. If the phase ϕ of the oscillation after transport from Γ to $\mathbf{q}_{\alpha} = \Gamma + \mathbf{G}$ is given by

$$\phi = \phi_p + \operatorname{Arg}[W_{\Gamma \to \mathbf{q}_\alpha}^{11}] - \operatorname{Arg}[W_{\Gamma \to \mathbf{q}_\alpha}^{12}]$$
(S.40)

where ϕ_p is a gauge-dependent quantity that results from the initial transport to prepare the superposition state, then the phase ϕ' of the oscillation after transport from Γ to $\Gamma - \mathbf{G}$ is

$$\phi' = \phi_p - \operatorname{Arg}[W^{11}_{\Gamma \to \Gamma + \mathbf{G}}] - \operatorname{Arg}[W^{12}_{\Gamma \to \Gamma + \mathbf{G}}] + \pi$$
(S.41)

Therefore, taking the difference between the two oscillation phases extracts $\operatorname{Arg}[W^{11}_{\Gamma \to \Gamma + \mathbf{G}}]$ as

$$\phi - \phi' - \pi = 2\operatorname{Arg}[W^{11}_{\Gamma \to \Gamma + \mathbf{G}}] \tag{S.42}$$

Note that there is an ambiguity in choosing $\pm \pi$ when relating ϕ' to ϕ . This results in a global U(1) phase shift of π in the eigenvalue phases. However, the phase difference between the eigenvalues is unaffected, which is sufficient to reconstruct, e.g., the \mathbb{Z}_2 invariant.

When the A and B sites of the lattice are degenerate, applying Eq.S.42 to the phase of oscillations for $\alpha = 0$ and $\alpha = 180$ in the interferometric sequence (Fig. 4B of main text) yields $\operatorname{Arg}[W_{\Gamma\to\Gamma+G}^{11}]=0.03(7)$ rad. Combined with the direct transport data from Γ to $\Gamma + \mathbf{G}$ (Fig. 3B of main text), which gives $|W_{\Gamma\to\Gamma+G}^{11}|=0.47(2)$ and $|W_{\Gamma\to\Gamma+G}^{12}|=\sqrt{1-|W_{\Gamma\to\Gamma+G}^{11}|^2}=0.88(1)$, we obtain eigenvalues $\exp[\pm i1.03(2)\pi/3]$.



Figure S3: Reaching the Wilson line regime in a lattice with AB-site offset. The population remaining in the first band after transport at different forces from Γ to Γ + G. The data agrees reasonably well with a two-level, tight-binding theory (dashed line) that approaches the Wilson line regime (thick shaded line) at large forces. We attribute the discrepancy to the two-level model at larger forces to transfer to higher bands. To calculate the SU(2) eigenvalues, we use the population at $|\mathbf{F}| d/\varepsilon = 5$. The inset depicts the transport path. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean from ten shots per data point.

Similarly, in the lattice with AB-site offset, data for $\alpha = 0$ and $\alpha = 180$ from Fig. 4B in the main text yields $\operatorname{Arg}[W_{\Gamma \to \Gamma + \mathbf{G}}^{11}]=-0.76(6)$ rad. We measure the absolute values by transporting atoms initialized at Γ in the lowest eigenstate to $\Gamma + \mathbf{G}$ with increasing force. The remaining population in the first band is shown in Fig. S3. The eventual saturation of population transfer indicates the geometric nature of the transfer. At $|\mathbf{F}| d/\varepsilon = 5$, we obtain $|W_{\Gamma \to \Gamma + \mathbf{G}}^{11}|=0.63(3)$ and $|W_{\Gamma \to \Gamma + \mathbf{G}}^{12}| = \sqrt{1 - |W_{\Gamma \to \Gamma + \mathbf{G}}^{11}|^2}=0.77(2)$. The eigenvalues of this Wilson-Zak loop are then $\exp[\pm i1.04(4)\pi/3]$.

SII Experimental methods

SII.1 The optical potential of the honeycomb lattice

The total potential resulting from interfering three beams of variable polarization at 120° angles can be decomposed into the sum of its out-of-plane (*s*-) and in-plane (*p*-) components as

$$V(x,y) = V^{s}(x,y) + V^{p}(x,y)$$
$$= \left|\sum_{i=1}^{3} \sqrt{V_{i}^{s}} e^{-i\mathbf{k}_{i}\cdot\mathbf{r}}\right|^{2} + \left|\sum_{i=1}^{3} \sqrt{V_{i}^{p}} e^{-i(\mathbf{k}_{i}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\alpha_{i})}\right|^{2}$$
(S.43)

where $V_i^{s(p)}$ is the ac Stark shift produced by the s(p)-component, \mathbf{k}_i is the wave-vector with wavenumber $k_L = |k_i|$, and α_i is the phase between s- and p-polarization components of beam i.

In the lattice with AB-site degeneracy, all three beams have equal intensity and are purely *s*-polarized. In this case, the expression for the total potential reduces to

$$V(x,y) = V_0 \left(2\cos(\sqrt{3}k_L x) + 4\cos(\frac{\sqrt{3}k_L x}{2})\cos(\frac{3k_L y}{2}) + 3 \right)$$
(S.44)

where $V_0 \equiv V_1^s = V_2^s = V_3^s$.

The resulting honeycomb potential contains two non-equivalent lattice sites (A,B) per unit cell, as shown in Fig. S4. Consequently, the two lowest bands, which correspond to the *s*-orbitals on the A and B sites, touch at Dirac points and are strongly coupled to each other. Coupling to the next higher bands, however, can mostly be neglected due to the large energy gap to the *p*-orbitals. Hence, our experimental system is well-approximated by a two-band model.

i. Breaking AB-site degeneracy

To introduce an energy-offset between the A and B sites and maintain isotropic tunnelling, we constrain the polarizations of each beam to have the same composition of s- and p-polarizations. The potentials arising from the interference of the s- and p- components of the three beams, which are shown separately in Fig. S4, have the form

$$V^{s}(x,y) = V_{0} \cos^{2} \theta \left(2 \cos(\sqrt{3}k_{L}x) + 4 \cos(\frac{\sqrt{3}k_{L}x}{2}) \cos(\frac{3k_{L}y}{2}) + 3 \right)$$
(S.45)



Figure S4: The honeycomb lattice potential. **a**, A lattice with degenerate A and B sites formed by beams of polarization angle $\theta = \pi/6$ and $\alpha_{32} = \alpha_{13} = 0$. Top: 2D plots of the *s*-polarized (left) and *p*-polarized (right) components of the potential. In the s(p)-polarized potential, the A (gray circles) and B sites (green circles) are both located at the potential minima (maxima). Therefore, there is no energy offset in the total potential, which is the sum of the two polarization components at the A and B sites. Bottom: A cross-cut of the potential through the dashed line in the 2D plots. The s(p)-potential is in blue (red) and the total potential is in green. **b**, Same as in (**a**), but for $\alpha_{32} = 2\pi/3$ and $\alpha_{13} = 2\pi/3$. With the appropriate phase shift between the polarization components of the beams, the A sites are located at the minima while the B sites are located at the maxima of the *p*-polarized component of the potential. Consequently, there is an energy offset between A and B sites in the total potential.

and

$$V^{p}(x,y) = -V_{0} \sin^{2} \theta \left(\cos\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}k_{L}x}{2} + \frac{3k_{L}y}{2} - \alpha_{32}\right) + \cos\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}k_{L}x}{2} - \frac{3k_{L}y}{2} + \alpha_{13} + \alpha_{32}\right) + \cos\left(\sqrt{3}k_{L}x + \alpha_{13}\right) - 3 \right)$$
(S.46)

where $\alpha_{32} \equiv \alpha_3 - \alpha_2$ and $\alpha_{13} \equiv \alpha_1 - \alpha_3$ and θ parametrizes the composition of s- and ppolarizations, i.e., for $\theta=0$, the light is purely s-polarized and for $\theta = \pi/2$, the light is purely ppolarized. Furthermore, in defining the same V_0 for the s- and p-polarizations, we have neglected the state-dependence of the dipole potential, which is valid in our case of far-detuned light.

By choosing the phase α_i of each beam, we can shift the *p*-polarized potential relative to the *s*-polarized potential. When $\alpha_{32} = \alpha_{13} = 0$, the minima of the *p*-polarized potential and the

maximima of the *s*-polarized potential coincide with the A and B sites (Fig. S4A). Subsequently, atoms experience the same ac Stark shift in either an A or B site. However, by setting $\alpha_{32} = 2\pi/3$ and $\alpha_{13} = 2\pi/3$, the *s*-polarized potential is shifted such that the potential maxima occur on A sites while the potential minima occur on B-sites (Fig. S4B).

ii. Implementation of the honeycomb lattice

For the lattice with AB-site degeneracy, the polarization of the three beams is set by polarizing beam splitters. We have verified in previous work (14) that this results in sufficiently pure *s*-polarizations.

To introduce an AB-site offset, we tune the polarizations of the beams by using a half- and a quarter-waveplate in the paths of two beams and only a half-waveplate in the path of the third beam, which does not require a phase shift between its *s*- and *p*-polarized components. After setting the waveplates, we ensure that the polarization composition of each beam is approximately equal by taking time-of-flight (TOF) images of the BEC after sudden release from the lattice. An unequal polarization composition between the beams results in an imbalance in the Bragg peaks. We then check the dispersion relation through the Ramsey-like interferometric procedure described in Sec. SI.7. To quantitatively assess the amount of AB-site offset, we fit the measured dispersion relation to a tight-binding model (see Fig. S7).

SII.2 Preparation scheme

The evaporative cooling of ⁸⁷Rb atoms in the $|F = 1, m_F = 1\rangle$ state to quantum degeneracy is initiated in a plugged quadrupole trap and completed in a crossed-beam dipole trap of wavelength 1064 nm. At the end of the cooling process, we have approximately 4×10^4 atoms in the BEC. The atoms are adiabatically loaded into a honeycomb optical lattice of depth $5.2(1)E_r$ in 100 ms. During the experimental sequence, the combined trap frequencies of the blue-detuned lattice and dipole potential are $\omega_z = 118(9)$ Hz and $\omega_{xy} = 16(1)$ Hz. We obtain these frequencies by measuring the oscillation frequency of the center-of-mass motion of the BEC after a perturbation of the trapping potential. We neglect the effect of the dipole trap since the dynamics of our experiment (on the order of 500 μ s) is much shorter than the inverse dipole trap frequencies.

SII.3 Lattice acceleration

To transport the atoms in reciprocal space, we generate a constant inertial force in the lattice frame by uniformly accelerating the lattice. An acceleration of $\mathbf{a}_i = \frac{2}{3}\lambda_L \frac{d\nu}{dt}\hat{\mathbf{e}}_i$ in the propagation direction $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_i$ of beam *i* is accomplished via a linear sweep of the frequency shift $\nu_i = \delta \omega_i / (2\pi)$ at a rate $\frac{d\nu_i}{dt}$. Individual control over the frequency sweep rate of two beams enables lattice acceleration of variable magnitude and direction. Thus, we can move the atoms along arbitrary paths in reciprocal space.

SII.4 Detection

The detection procedure begins with a linear ramp-down of the lattice intensity in 800 μ s to band map the atoms. We then use absorption imaging to detect the atoms after 9 ms TOF. Due to the short TOF, the resulting image is a convolution of the insitu cloud size and the quasimomentum.



Figure S5: **Raw data of band mapped atoms at** Γ **. a**, The extended zone scheme showing the first (hexagon) and second (triangles) BZs is overlaid on a raw image of the band mapped atoms at Γ . High-symmetry points Γ , at the center of the first BZ, and M, at the edge of the first BZ, are labelled. Non-equivalent Dirac points K (K') are depicted by solid (open) orange circles at the corners of the first BZ. **b**, Analysis ROIs. The atom number in the first (second) zone is obtained by summing the pixel values within the red (blue) circle(s). We additionally take the mean of the pixel values in the yellow ring and, with the exception of the interferometric data, subtract this value as background from the pixel sum of the first zone atoms.

Nonetheless, for quasimomenta near the center of the first BZ, we can easily distinguish between atoms in the first and second BZs, as shown in Fig. S5A. In contrast, it is difficult to differentiate between first and second zone atoms at the edges of the BZ. For these quasimomenta, we add an additional adiabatic segment to the sequence to push the atoms away from the edge, toward the center of the BZ, before bandmapping.

i. Data Analysis

We sum the pixel values of the atoms in the first zone n_1 and the pixel values of the atoms in the second zone n_2 to obtain the fraction of atoms in the lowest band, $n_1/(n_1 + n_2)$. Since we wish to count atoms localized at specific quasimomenta, we specify regions of interest (ROIs), which are depicted in Fig.S5B for atoms at Γ . We sum pixel values within the red circle to obtain n_1 and sum the pixel values within the six blue circles to obtain n_2 .

For a quantitatively accurate fraction in the lowest band, we subtract the mean pixel value of the shaded yellow region from n_1 to account for the hot background atoms. We do not subtract an additional background for n_2 since atoms in the upper band at Γ are unstable due to interaction effects and move to other quasimomenta. An additional background subtraction would therefore underestimate atoms in the second band by counting atoms that have decayed from Γ as background. This analysis method was used to obtain the population in the lowest band shown in Figs. 2 and 3 in the main text.

In contrast, for the oscillation data in Fig. 4B of the main text, we do not perform a background subtraction for n_1 . Due to the long hold times, the cloud heats and disperses in reciprocal space, increasing the background value. Therefore, background subtraction would lead to an underestimation of atoms in the first zone. However, an overall offset in the first zone population does not affect the phase of the oscillation, which is the relevant quantity.

To check systematic errors due to our selection of ROIs, we analyse a single dataset of population transfer vs. force magnitude after transport by one reciprocal lattice vector (blue data in Fig. 2B of main text) using different ROIs. We evaluate both the effect of the ROI size using a



Figure S6: Example oscillations from the Ramsey-like interferometric sequence. Both the maximum and minimum values of the interference fringe for $\alpha = 120^{\circ}$ in a lattice with AB-site offset (a) damps with increasing hold time, in contrast to the interference fringe for $\alpha = 120^{\circ}$ in a lattice with AB-site degeneracy (b). Here, only the maximum values damp with increasing hold time.

fixed background subtraction ring and the effect of the background subtraction ring using a fixed ROI size. Using the same ROI size for first and second band atoms and restricting the ROI size such that it does not overlap with the background subtraction ring yields consistent results with deviations on the order of $\pm 5\%$.

We use the same ROIs and, when applicable, background subtraction ring for all datasets.

SII.5 Fitting the interference fringe

The population in the first band $P_1(t)$ resulting from the Ramsey-like interferometric sequence described in the main text oscillates as a function of hold time and is given by:

$$P_1(t) = C_0 + A_0 \cos(\varepsilon t + \phi) \tag{S.47}$$

where C_0 is a constant offset, A_0 parametrizes the amplitude of the oscillation, and the phase ϕ is given by Eq. S.40.

To extract the phase of the interference fringe, we fit the population of the lowest band at quasimomentum q_{α} to an empirically chosen function of the form:

$$A_0 e^{-t/t_0} (\cos(2\pi f t + \phi) + y_1) + y_0$$
(S.48)

where A_0 is the amplitude of the function, t_0 parametrizes the decay of the fringe, f gives the frequency, which is determined by the dispersion at the reference quasimomentum, and ϕ is the phase. The offsets y_1 and y_0 interpolate between an oscillation with damping of both maximum and minimum values (Fig. S6A) and an oscillation with damping of only the maximum values (Fig.S6B).

SII.6 Accessing the dispersion relation

In addition to probing the band geometry, the interferometric sequence simultaneously reveals the dispersion relation through the frequency of the oscillation. By varying the reference quasimomentum \mathbf{Q} , we obtain the energy difference between the lower and upper bands over the entire

BZ (26, 27). The measured dispersion along the path Γ -K-M- Γ is shown in Fig. S7. This method is a convenient tool for calibrating the lattice depth and quantifying the AB-site offset.



Figure S7: Mapping the dispersion relation over the BZ. The dispersion relation along the highsymmetry paths for lattices with: $\Delta/J=0$ and depth $V_0 = 0.8E_r$ (dark blue) or $V_0 = 2.5E_r$ (light blue); $\Delta/J=3.1$ and depth $V_0 = 5.2E_r$ (red). Theory lines show a full band structure calculation (solid) and a best-fit tight-binding model (dashed). Error bars indicate fit errors.

References and Notes

- 1. D. Xiao, M.-C. Chang, Q. Niu, Berry phase effects on electronic properties. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 82, 1959–2007 (2010). doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.82.1959
- D. J. Thouless, M. Kohmoto, M. P. Nightingale, M. den Nijs, Quantized Hall conductance in a two-dimensional periodic potential. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 49, 405–408 (1982). doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.49.405
- K. Klitzing, G. Dorda, M. Pepper, New method for high-accuracy determination of the fine-structure constant based on quantized Hall resistance. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 45, 494–497 (1980). doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.45.494
- M. Z. Hasan, C. L. Kane, *Colloquium*: Topological insulators. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 82, 3045–3067 (2010). <u>doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.82.3045</u>
- 5. X.-L. Qi, S.-C. Zhang, Topological insulators and superconductors. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 83, 1057–1110 (2011). doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.83.1057
- 6. A. H. Castro Neto, F. Guinea, N. M. R. Peres, K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, The electronic properties of graphene. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 81, 109–162 (2009). doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.81.109
- 7. R. Yu, X. L. Qi, A. Bernevig, Z. Fang, X. Dai, Equivalent expression of Z₂ topological invariant for band insulators using the non-Abelian Berry connection. *Phys. Rev. B* 84, 075119 (2011). doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.84.075119
- 8. A. Alexandradinata, B. A. Bernevig, http://arxiv.org/abs/1409.3236 (2014).
- A. Alexandradinata, X. Dai, B. Bernevig, Wilson-loop characterization of inversion-symmetric topological insulators. *Phys. Rev. B* 89, 155114 (2014). doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.89.155114
- 10. F. Grusdt, D. Abanin, E. Demler, Measuring ℤ₂ topological invariants in optical lattices using interferometry. *Phys. Rev. A* **89**, 043621 (2014). <u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.89.043621</u>
- F. Wilczek, A. Zee, Appearance of gauge structure in simple dynamical systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 52, 2111–2114 (1984). doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.52.2111
- G. Jotzu, M. Messer, R. Desbuquois, M. Lebrat, T. Uehlinger, D. Greif, T. Esslinger, Experimental realization of the topological Haldane model with ultracold fermions. *Nature* 515, 237–240 (2014).<u>doi:10.1038/nature13915</u> <u>Medline</u>
- M. Aidelsburger, M. Lohse, C. Schweizer, M. Atala, J. T. Barreiro, S. Nascimbène, N. R. Cooper, I. Bloch, N. Goldman, Measuring the Chern number of Hofstadter bands with ultracold bosonic atoms. *Nat. Phys.* 11, 162–166 (2014). doi:10.1038/nphys3171
- L. Duca, T. Li, M. Reitter, I. Bloch, M. Schleier-Smith, U. Schneider, An Aharonov-Bohm interferometer for determining Bloch band topology. *Science* 347, 288–292 (2015).<u>doi:10.1126/science.1259052</u> <u>Medline</u>
- M. Atala, M. Aidelsburger, J. T. Barreiro, D. Abanin, T. Kitagawa, E. Demler, I. Bloch, Direct measurement of the Zak phase in topological Bloch bands. *Nat. Phys.* 9, 795–800 (2013). doi:10.1038/nphys2790

- 16. M. Zahid Hasan, S.-Y. Xu, M. Neupane, in *Topological Insulators: Fundamentals and Perspectives* (Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, 2015), pp. 55–100.
- M. Greiner, I. Bloch, O. Mandel, T. W. Hänsch, T. Esslinger, Exploring phase coherence in a 2D lattice of Bose-Einstein condensates. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 87, 160405 (2001).doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.87.160405 Medline
- M. Ben Dahan, E. Peik, J. Reichel, Y. Castin, C. Salomon, Bloch oscillations of atoms in an optical potential. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **76**, 4508–4511 (1996).doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.76.4508 Medline
- 19. See supplementary materials on Science Online
- 20. J. W. Zwanziger, M. Koenig, A. Pines, Berry's Phase. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **41**, 601–646 (1990). <u>doi:10.1146/annurev.pc.41.100190.003125</u>
- 21. R. D. King-Smith, D. Vanderbilt, Theory of polarization of crystalline solids. *Phys. Rev. B Condens. Matter* **47**, 1651–1654 (1993).<u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.47.1651</u> <u>Medline</u>
- 22. S. Shevchenko, S. Ashhab, F. Nori, Landau–Zener–Stückelberg interferometry. *Phys. Rep.* **492**, 1–30 (2010). <u>doi:10.1016/j.physrep.2010.03.002</u>
- 23. L. Tarruell, D. Greif, T. Uehlinger, G. Jotzu, T. Esslinger, Creating, moving and merging Dirac points with a Fermi gas in a tunable honeycomb lattice. *Nature* 483, 302–305 (2012).doi:10.1038/nature10871 Medline
- 24. P. Hauke, M. Lewenstein, A. Eckardt, Tomography of band insulators from quench dynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113**, 045303 (2014).<u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.045303</u> <u>Medline</u>
- 25. E. Alba, X. Fernandez-Gonzalvo, J. Mur-Petit, J. K. Pachos, J. J. Garcia-Ripoll, Seeing topological order in time-of-flight measurements. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **107**, 235301 (2011).<u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.235301</u> <u>Medline</u>
- 26. A. Zenesini, D. Ciampini, O. Morsch, E. Arimondo, Observation of Stückelberg oscillations in accelerated optical lattices. *Phys. Rev. A* 82, 065601 (2010). <u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.82.065601</u>
- S. Kling, T. Salger, C. Grossert, M. Weitz, Atomic Bloch-Zener oscillations and Stückelberg interferometry in optical lattices. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **105**, 215301 (2010).<u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.215301</u> Medline
- 28. L.-K. Lim, J.-N. Fuchs, G. Montambaux, Mass and chirality inversion of a Dirac cone pair in Stückelberg interferometry. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112**, 155302 (2014).doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.112.155302 Medline
- 29. L.-K. Lim, J.-N. Fuchs, G. Montambaux, Geometric phase in Stückelberg interferometry. *Phys. Rev. A* **91**, 042119 (2015). <u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.91.042119</u>
- S. K. Baur, M. H. Schleier-Smith, N. R. Cooper, Dynamic optical superlattices with topological bands. *Phys. Rev. A* 89, 051605 (2014). doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.89.051605
- 31. D. A. Abanin, T. Kitagawa, I. Bloch, E. Demler, Interferometric approach to measuring band topology in 2D optical lattices. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **110**, 165304 (2013).doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.165304 Medline

- J. F. Poyatos, J. I. Cirac, P. Zoller, Complete characterization of a quantum process: The two-bit quantum gate. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **78**, 390–393 (1997). <u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.78.390</u>
- 33. A. A. Soluyanov, D. Vanderbilt, Wannier representation of Z₂ topological insulators. *Phys. Rev. B* **83**, 035108 (2011). <u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.83.035108</u>
- 34. M. Aidelsburger, M. Atala, M. Lohse, J. T. Barreiro, B. Paredes, I. Bloch, Realization of the Hofstadter Hamiltonian with ultracold atoms in optical lattices. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 111, 185301 (2013).<u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.185301 Medline</u>
- 35. H. Miyake, G. A. Siviloglou, C. J. Kennedy, W. C. Burton, W. Ketterle, Realizing the Harper Hamiltonian with laser-assisted tunneling in optical lattices. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **111**, 185302 (2013).<u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.185302</u> <u>Medline</u>
- 36. N. H. Lindner, G. Refael, V. Galitski, Floquet topological insulator in semiconductor quantum wells. *Nat. Phys.* 7, 490–495 (2011). doi:10.1038/nphys1926
- 37. C. V. Parker, L.-C. Ha, C. Chin, Direct observation of effective ferromagnetic domains of cold atoms in a shaken optical lattice. *Nat. Phys.* 9, 769–774 (2013) Letter. <u>doi:10.1038/nphys2789</u>
- 38. Y. J. Lin, R. L. Compton, K. Jiménez-García, J. V. Porto, I. B. Spielman, Synthetic magnetic fields for ultracold neutral atoms. *Nature* 462, 628–632 (2009).<u>doi:10.1038/nature08609</u> <u>Medline</u>
- N. R. Cooper, Optical flux lattices for ultracold atomic gases. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 106, 175301 (2011).doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.175301 Medline
- J. Dalibard, F. Gerbier, G. Juzeliūnas, P. Öhberg, *Colloquium*: Artificial gauge potentials for neutral atoms. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 83, 1523–1543 (2011). doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.83.1523
- B. Béri, N. R. Cooper, Z₂ topological insulators in ultracold atomic gases. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 107, 145301 (2011).doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.145301 Medline
- 42. Y.-J. Lin, K. Jiménez-García, I. B. Spielman, Spin-orbit-coupled Bose-Einstein condensates. *Nature* **471**, 83–86 (2011).<u>doi:10.1038/nature09887</u> <u>Medline</u>
- N. Goldman, I. Satija, P. Nikolic, A. Bermudez, M. A. Martin-Delgado, M. Lewenstein, I. B. Spielman, Realistic time-reversal invariant topological insulators with neutral atoms. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 105, 255302 (2010).doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.255302 Medline
- 44. G. Liu, S.-L. Zhu, S. Jiang, F. Sun, W. M. Liu, Simulating and detecting the quantum spin Hall effect in the kagome optical lattice. *Phys. Rev. A* 82, 053605 (2010). doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.82.053605
- 45. C. J. Kennedy, G. A. Siviloglou, H. Miyake, W. C. Burton, W. Ketterle, Spin-orbit coupling and quantum spin Hall effect for neutral atoms without spin flips. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 111, 225301 (2013).<u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.225301 Medline</u>
- 46. F. Mei, S.-L. Zhu, Z.-M. Zhang, C. H. Oh, N. Goldman, Simulating Z₂ topological insulators with cold atoms in a one-dimensional optical lattice. *Phys. Rev. A* 85, 013638 (2012). <u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.85.013638</u>

- 47. G. W. Semenoff, Condensed-matter simulation of a three-dimensional anomaly. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **53**, 2449–2452 (1984). <u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.53.2449</u>
- 48. W. Kohn, Analytic properties of Bloch waves and Wannier functions. *Phys. Rev.* **115**, 809–821 (1959). doi:10.1103/PhysRev.115.809
- 49. M. E. Peskin, D. V. Schroeder, An Introduction to Quantum Field Theory (Frontiers in *Physics*) (Westview Press, 1995).
- 50. A. Zee, Non-Abelian gauge structure in nuclear quadrupole resonance. *Phys. Rev. A Gen. Phys.* **38**, 1–6 (1988).<u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.38.1 Medline</u>
- 51. J. Zak, Berry's phase for energy bands in solids. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **62**, 2747–2750 (1989).<u>doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.62.2747</u> <u>Medline</u>
- 52. Y. Makeenko, Methods of Contemporary Gauge Theory (Cambridge Univ. Press, 2005).